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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01957 
CASE NAME: DEAN HABEGGER VS DR. HENRY KUN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR RELIEF UNDER CCP 473(a) & 473(b) FILED 
BY DEAN HABEGGER, DEBBIE HABEGGER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Plaintiffs’ Motion (1) to set aside the impending dismissal of defendants Maa and 
Nguyen and (2) for leave to file a Third Amended Complaint substituting those defendants for 
two defendants currently named as Doe defendants is granted under the attorney fault 
provisions of CCP § 473 (b).  Emmanuel Enyinwa is ordered to pay reasonable compensatory 
legal fees and costs to defendants Maa and Nguyen of $1,000.00 on or before February 4, 
2021.  Plaintiffs may file their Third Amended complaint once Mr. Enyinwa makes that payment.   
 

Mr. Enyinwa is not ordered to pay anything to defendants John Muir Medical Group, 
Alibeigi and Huynh, because plaintiffs’ motion under the attorney fault provisions of CCP § 473 
(b) is not intended to correct any defect noted by those defendants, plaintiffs’ motion was not 
directed to those defendants, and those defendants’ Opposition was unnecessary.  Also, the 
attorney that filed the Opposition does not represent defendants Maa and Nguyen. 
 

Background 
 
Previously, the court sustained the demurrer of Drs. Maa and Nguyen to plaintiffs’ 

Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), ruling the SAC showed on its face that the statute of 
limitations had run as to them because of a combination of errors made by plaintiffs’ attorney.  
First, the complaint that the attorney filed with the court on September 27, 2018 to start this 
litigation consisted of only the first three pages of a Judicial Council form complaint.  Thus, while 
the original complaint disclosed that it concerned medical malpractice, it failed to allege any 
details regarding the medical malpractice or the relationship of Drs. Maa and Nguyen to that 
malpractice or to the care and treatment of plaintiff Dean Habegger. 
 

Second, when plaintiffs’ attorney tried to bring defendants Maa and Nguyen into this 
case, he did not identify them as Doe defendants.  Rather, he filed a First Amended Complaint 
that still contained the same, original Does, 1-20, and identified Dr. Maa as a named defendant.  
Then he did the same thing as to Dr. Nguyen when he filed the SAC. 

 
Thus, the court was faced with a situation where the relation back doctrine under CCP § 

474 could not be applied, and plaintiffs’ counsel appeared not to have attempted to use section 
474 in any event.  Consequently, the court had no choice but to sustain the demurrer.  The court 
chose to sustain it with leave to amend only pursuant to CCP § 473 (a), because it needed a 
declaration from the attorney to explain why any further amendment should be permitted and 
how these errors had occurred.   
 

The court did not mention CCP § 473 (b) in its ruling on defendants’ demurrer to the 
SAC because it was not sure that section 473 (b) could apply to the present circumstances and 
because the only question before it in ruling on the demurrer was whether to permit further 
amendment (the subject of section 473 (a)).  The question was not then relief from a “judgment, 
dismissal, order, or other proceeding taken against” plaintiffs (the subject of section 473 (b).)  
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However, the court did not, by mentioning section 473 (a) in its ruling on the demurrer, mean to 
preclude plaintiffs’ counsel from making a motion pursuant to section 473 (b). 

 
In response to the court’s ruling, plaintiffs’ counsel filed the current motion under both 

section 473 (a) and section 473 (b) to “set aside the dismissal of [these] defendants . . . , ” even 
though no such dismissal has occurred yet.  (Notice of Motion at 1:26-27.)   
 

Discussion 
 
One of the key issues in this case is governed by Streicher v. Tommy's Electric Co. 

(1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 876, 884-885.  There, the plaintiff fell from scaffolding at a construction 
site when automatic garage doors unexpectedly opened.  He initially sued the parties 
responsible for the construction site, settling with them after several years of litigation.  Then he 
brought into his suit some defendants responsible for marketing the garage doors and/or their 
radio controls.  As here, he filed an amended complaint without substituting the new defendants 
for existing Doe defendants.  The trial court therefore ruled he had not properly used CCP § 
474, and sustained defendants’ statute of limitations-based demurrer without leave to amend. 

 
The Court of Appeal reversed, holding this was an abuse of discretion.  The trial court 

should have permitted plaintiff leave to amend to substitute the new defendants in as Does.  
The court said that the lawsuit would have been timely except for plaintiff’s procedural error, and 
that this error was easily curable through amendment.  (Id. at 884-885.) 

 
The current case is not one where the facts show that plaintiffs knew the names of Drs. 

Maa and Nguyen within the meaning of CCP § 474 when they filed their complaint (Woo v. 
Superior Court (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 169, 177-178) or where plaintiffs intentionally did not add 
these doctors as Doe defendants because plaintiffs knew they could not do so. (Liberty 
Transport, Inc. v. Harry W. Gorst Co. (1991) 229 Cal.App.3d 417, 428, overruled on other 
grounds in Adams v. Murakami (1991) 54 Cal.3d 105, 115-116.)  Plaintiffs’ attorney has 
submitted evidence that he did try to file Doe amendments.  In February 2020, he prepared an 
application to amend the complaint to add Dr. Maa as Doe 5 and Dr. Nguyen as Doe 8.  (See 
last page of exhibits attached to Enyinwa Decl.)   

 
Based on Streicher’s holding that denying permission to correct the procedural error of 

failing to name defendants as the true names of previously named Doe defendants is an abuse 
of discretion, the court must grant leave to amend here.   

 
Defendants argue that plaintiff’s current motion is a disguised motion for reconsideration, 

brought without new facts or law.  The parties do not appear to agree what prior order is being 
reconsidered.  Assuming it is the court’s order sustaining the demurrer and denying leave to 
amend except pursuant to CCP § 473 (a)(1), the current motion might have been an invalid 
motion for reconsideration under different circumstances.  Obviously, Streicher was not just 
recently decided.  Plaintiff could have cited it in his Opposition to defendant’s demurer or at oral 
argument.  Had he done so, the court would have granted leave to amend when it sustained the 
demurrer.  While citing Streicher earlier would have been preferable, the court explicitly left open 
the possibility that it could be persuaded to permit a further amendment based on a motion 
under CCP § 473 (a).  The court cannot fault plaintiffs for making that motion and citing 
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whatever law and facts support it. 
 
The second error of plaintiffs’ counsel was in the failure of his office to attach a planned 

cause of action for negligence to the three-page Judicial Council form complaint that he filed 
with the court on September 27, 2018.  He has accepted responsibility for that error in his 
declaration.  Clearly, it was not an error committed by plaintiffs themselves.  The question then 
is whether this is the type of error from which his clients can be granted relief under the attorney 
fault portion of CCP § 473.  The court concludes it is. 

 
The attorney fault provisions are more limited than the general provisions of CCP § 473.  

While the general provisions may be used to grant relief from “a judgment, dismissal, order, or 
other proceeding,” the attorney fault provisions may be used only to grant relief from a default, 
default judgment, or dismissal.  (See Shayan v. Spine Care & Orthopedic Physicians (2020) 44 
Cal.App.5th 167 (claimants in interpleader action could not obtain relief from judgment rendered 
after they failed to appear at trial, because the result was not a default judgment or a dismissal; 
rather it was a judgment after trial on the merits).  Defendants Maa and Nguyen therefore argue 
that relief cannot be granted under the attorney fault provisions of CCP § 473 (b) because they 
have not yet been dismissed from this case.   
 

Accepting this argument would elevate form over substance.  The court sees no point in 
denying plaintiffs’ motion now only to entertain it again in a few weeks, after defendants are 
inevitably dismissed based on the court’s order sustaining their demurrer.  (See Thompson v. 
Ioane (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 1180 (courts are permitted to consider a notice of appeal that is 
filed prematurely).    
 

Note 
 
The court feels compelled to note the following.  When defendants Maa and Ngyuen filed 

their demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint, their moving papers said, “The original 
Complaint did not provide any facts regarding what kind of medical malpractice took place . . .”  
(Opening Brief at 2:9-10.)  Further, defendants asked the court to take judicial notice of the 
original complaint by attaching it as Exhibit A to their Request for Judicial Notice filed October 7, 
2020.  That Exhibit A consists of three pages –a Judicial Council form Complaint – without any 
attached cause of action for medical malpractice.  The court’s ruling on the demurrer declined to 
take judicial notice of Exhibit A, stating it did not need to do so because “The various versions of 
the complaint are in the court’s file.”  The court now reverses that order to this extent:  the court 
takes judicial notice that Exhibit A is an exact replica of what was in the court’s file when it ruled 
on the demurrer, and, particularly, that no medical malpractice cause of action was attached to 
the original complaint. 

 
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to the demurrer did not contest that no cause of action for medical 

malpractice was attached to the original complaint.  Rather, the Opposition said, “It is also 
apparent from the Court file that the pleading attachment to the original complaint is not in the 
Court file.”  (Opp. at 3:10-12.) 

 
The court reviewed the court file and, particularly, the original complaint in the file, when 

it drafted its ruling on the demurrer.  The court saw no medical malpractice attachment.  It saw 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   01/20/21 

 
 

- 4 - 

the same document as is attached as Exhibit A to defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice filed 
October 7, 2020. 

 
Then, when filing this motion and asking the court to grant relief for his failure to attach 

the medical malpractice cause of action to the original complaint, plaintiffs’ counsel stated in his 
Opening Memorandum of Points and Authorities, “this attachment, which is enclosed to this 
motion as Exhibit 3 either got misplaced by the office secretary . . . or it was stuck in the copy 
machine and got lost.”  (Opening Brief at 7:12-15.) However, while plaintiffs’ counsel does affix 
such an attachment to his declaration, he does not in the declaration authenticate it as Exhibit 3 
or the document he thought he had filed.   

 
Finally, when doing the final edits to this ruling, the court reviewed the original complaint 

one final time and found something inexplicable:  that the original complaint now has an 
attachment entitled, “Cause of Action – General Negligence,” but not the same one as attached 
to Mr. Enyinwa’s declaration filed November 19, 2020.  Further, the document now attached to 
the original complaint is more detailed than the document attached to Mr. Enyinwa’s November 
19, 2020 declaration.  Accordingly, the court declines to order that the document attached to Mr. 
Enyinwa’s November 19, 2020 declaration be deemed filed as though it had been attached to 
the original complaint.  All that the court is accepting as true now for purposes of this ruling is 
that Mr. Enyinwa intended to attach some medical malpractice cause of action to the original 
complaint; that the attachment related to Dean Habegger’s October 19, 2017 endoscopy and 
subsequent complications; that any failure to attach that cause of action to the original complaint 
was the fault of Mr. Enyinwa alone and not of his clients, the plaintiffs; and that, for the benefit of 
the innocent plaintiffs, under CCP § 473 (b) relief should be granted from that failure and from 
the dismissal of defendants Maa and Nguyen that will occur if relief is denied. 
 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00171 
CASE NAME: JKL CONSTRUCTION VS GIANNI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL DEFENDANTS TO SERVE AMENDED 
RESPONSES, FILED BY JKL CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Taken off calendar by moving party.  
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 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01225 
CASE NAME: SRVUSD VS SRVEA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of SAN RAMON VALLEY 
USD, FILED BY SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court are three demurrers to the First Amended Complaint ("FAC"). The First 
Amended Complaint is filed by the Institute for Government Responsibility ("Institute") as a 
Relator and Qui Tam Plaintiff on behalf of the San Ramon Valley Unified School District 
("District") and the State of California ("State") against three unions representing teachers and 
other employees of the District, San Ramon Valley Education Association ("SRVEA"), California 
School Employees Association, Chapter 65 ("CSEA"), and Service Employees International 
Union, Local 1021 ("SEIU"). For the reasons set forth below, the Court rules as follows: (1) 
demurrers by all defendants to the first cause of action for declaratory relief are sustained, with 
leave to amend; (2) demurrers by all defendants to the second cause of action under the 
California False Claims Act, Govt. Code § 12650 et seq. ("CFCA") are sustained, with leave to 
amend; and (3) demurrers by all defendants to the third cause of action for unjust enrichment 
are sustained, without leave to amend.  

Facts 

The Institute brings this action as a Qui Tam Plaintiff under the California False Claims Act, 
Government Code § 12650 et seq. ("CFCA") on behalf of the District and the State. In summary, 
the Institute alleges that the defendant employee unions are violating Education Code § 44987 
and the California Constitution, Art. XVI, § 6, prohibiting gifts of public funds, by demanding 
"release time" for employees of the District and not reimbursing the SRVUSD for "release time" 
in the amount of the full compensation paid by the District to employees for the time they spend 
away from their school duties serving as elected or other positions in the public employee 
organizations. (FAC ¶¶ 16-24, 35-37.) It alleges on information and belief the reimbursement 
rate the defendant unions agreed to pay the District under their collective bargaining 
agreements with the District, and the amounts actually being paid, for release time for various 
members of the union defendants is less than the amount the District is entitled to be 
reimbursed under Education Code § 44987. (FAC ¶¶ 20-27, 36.) The Institute alleges these 
reimbursement practices, embodied in the memoranda of understanding and collective 
bargaining agreements between the District and the unions, result in the District, through funds 
originating from the State, making a gift of public funds to private entities (the unions). (FAC ¶¶ 
27, 28.)  

The Demurrers 

All defendants demur to the three causes of action against the unions for declaratory relief (1st 
C/A), violation of the CFCA (2nd C/A), and unjust enrichment (3rd C/A). The grounds for 
demurrer asserted by the defendants are largely the same. They all contend that the Institute 
cannot state a CFCA claim because (1) the FAC does not allege any "false claim" under the 
grounds set forth in the CFCA, and CSEA specifically argues asserts no claim under 
Government Code § 12651(a)(1) through (a)(8), and (2) the "public disclosure bar" under the 
CFCA precludes the Institute from pursuing the claim because the union agreements were 
disclosed in public meetings of the District Board and posted on its website. Defendants also 
argue that there is no violation of Education Code § 44987 on which the claims in the FAC are 
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based because the reimbursement amount is governed by lawful agreements between the 
District and the Union, and by statutes other than Education Code § 44987, and because that 
statute does not apply to two of the defendants (SEIU and CSEA), the latter point being 
conceded by the Institute in its opposition. (Opp. p. 10, ll. 10-14.) The CSEA also contends the 
FAC does not plead the CFCA cause of action with specificity, including any fraud or falsity.  

As to the two other causes of action, the defendants argue the Institute as a Qui Tam Plaintiff 
does not have standing to pursue its declaratory relief and unjust enrichment causes of action 
on behalf of the District and the State. The defendants also argue the Institute could not plead 
the declaratory relief claim as a taxpayer under Code of Civil Procedure § 526a, and the unjust 
enrichment cause of action is not a proper cause of action under California law. 

SRVEA alone contends that the Public Employment Relations Board ("PERB") has exclusive 
jurisdiction over the claims made in the FAC, which it characterizes as an attempt to repudiate 
its collective bargaining agreement with the District and an unfair labor practice. 

Standards Governing Ruling on Demurrer 

In ruling on the demurrer, the Court must accept as true all well-pleaded factual allegations of 
the FAC, but not legal conclusions or contentions. (City of Dinuba v. County of Tulare (2007) 41 
Cal. 4th 859, 865; Carloss v. County of Alameda (2015) 242 Cal. App. 4th 116, 123.) The Court 
gives the FAC "a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context. 
[Citation.]." (Id. at 123 [quoting Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318].) (See also Evans v. 
City of Berkeley (2006) 38 Cal. 4th 1, 6.) The Court also considers matters of which the Court 
can properly take judicial notice. (Carloss v. County of Alameda, supra, 242 Cal.App.4th at 123.) 

Under California law, statutory causes of action must be pled with particularity. "Generally, 
'[w]he[n] a party relies for recovery upon a purely statutory liability it is indispensable that he 
plead facts demonstrating his right to recover under the statute. The complaint must plead every 
fact which is essential to the cause of action under the statute.' " (Baskin v. Hughes Realty, Inc. 
(2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 184, 207 [quoting Green v. Grimes-Stassforth S. Co. (1940) 39 
Cal.App.2d 52, 56.) (See also Fischer v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 
590, 604 ["facts in support of each of the requirements of a statute upon which a cause of action 
is based must be specifically pled."]; Hawkins v. TACA Internat. Airlines, S.A. (2014) 223 
Cal.App.4th 466, 478-479 [despite rule of liberal construction, allegations merely parroting 
statute without alleging facts insufficient to state a cause of action].) 

If a complaint fails to state a cause of action but there is a reasonable possibility the complaint 
can be amended to cure the deficiencies, then leave to amend must be granted. (Quelimane v. 
Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 39.) Plaintiff "has the burden of proving the 
possibility of cure by amendment." (Czaikowski v. Haskell & White, LLP (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 
166, 173 [quoting Grinzi v. San Diego Hospice Corp. (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 72, 78-79 (internal 
quotations omitted)].) 

Requests for Judicial Notice 

Defendants and Qui Tam Plaintiff have requested judicial notice of various documents from 
public records. None of the parties has objected to or opposed the requests. The Court will take 
judicial notice of the documents for which requests have been made pursuant to Evidence Code 
§ 452, except that as in Ragland v. U.S. Bank National Assn. (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 182, 193, 
relied on by the CSEA in support of its request, judicial notice of the public webpages of the 
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District offered by the defendants is limited to those matters of which judicial notice is 
appropriate as set forth in that decision. 

Analysis 

I. PERB Jurisdiction 
 

Where the claim made in the complaint is an Education Code violation, whether or not the 
alleged violation arises out of a collective bargaining agreement, the Court rather than PERB 
has jurisdiction over the action. (California Teachers Association v. Livingston Union School 
District (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 1503, 1525 [finding that "bargaining which results in a waiver of 
an Education Code provision such as section 45028 [salary schedules] is not an unfair labor 
practice" that would come within PERB's exclusive jurisdiction.].) (See also Hott v. College of 
the Sequoias Community College Dist. (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 84, 94 [" 'PERB does not have 
exclusive jurisdiction where a pure Education Code violation (as opposed to an arguably unfair 
practice) is alleged'," (italics in original) quoting Dixon v. Bd. of Trustees (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 
1269, 1277].) For PERB to have exclusive jurisdiction, it must also be able to "furnish relief 
equivalent to that which would be provided by a trial court." (California Teachers Association v. 
Livingston Union School District, supra, 219 Cal.App.3d at 1511, 1525, quoting San Diego 
Teachers Assn. v. Superior Court (1979) 24 Cal.3d 1, 7, and holding PERB could not grant relief 
on the claims made in that case). SRVEA does not address this requirement or contend that 
PERB could "furnish relief equivalent" to the relief this Court could provide based on the claims 
asserted. The Court therefore has jurisdiction to address the FAC and the demurrers. 

II. Qui Tam Claim under CFCA 
 

The CFCA is generally patterned on the federal False Claims Act, title 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3732 
("Federal Act" for convenience), and federal authorities construing its provisions provide 
guidance to courts interpreting the CFCA. (City of Pomona v. Superior Court (2001) 89 
Cal.App.4th 793, 801 ["California's False Claims Act is " 'patterned on a similar federal statutory 
scheme'," quoting Rothschild v. Tyco Internat. (US), Inc. (2000) 83 Cal. App. 4th 488, 494].) 
Federal cases are relevant to the interpretation of the CFCA, particularly where there is limited 
published California authority under the statute. (Id. at 802 ["Given the lack of California 
authority and the very close similarity of California's act to the federal act, it is appropriate to turn 
to federal cases for guidance in interpreting the act."]; Kaye v. Board of Trustees of San Diego 
County Public Law Library (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 48, 59-60 [same].) 

A. No False Claim Alleged 
 

The Institute's Opposition does not address that the "false claim" pled in the FAC is defined as 
the defendant unions' demand that employees of the District "be released from their day-to-day 
duties" and that this "demand by the Unions for their members release time is a 'claim' as that 
term is defined" under the CFCA. (FAC ¶¶ 36, 37.) The Institute instead argues that there is a 
violation of Government Code § 12651(a)(4), which provides liability when a defendant "[h]as 
possession, custody, or control of public property or money used or to be used by the state or 
by any political subdivision and knowingly delivers or causes to be delivered less than all of that 
property." (Govt. Code § 12651(a)(4); Opp. p. 8, ll. 10-13.) The FAC, however, does not allege 
that that defendants violated the CFCA by possessing, or having custody or control of public 
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money or property, and failing to deliver all of that public money or property to the District. (FAC 
¶¶ 35-37.) 

The Court in United States ex rel. Kasowitz Benson Torres LLP v. BASF Corp. (D.D.C. 2017) 
254 F.Supp.3d 44, describes the similar provision of the Federal Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(D), 
as imposing liability for "conversion" of government assets. (Id. at 54-55.) Conversion under 
California law requires proof of title or right to possession of a specific and identifiable sum of 
money to state a claim for conversion of money. (See generally Lee v. Hanley (2015) 61 Cal.4th 
1225, 1240 ["(1) the plaintiff's ownership or right to possession of the property; (2) the 
defendant's conversion by a wrongful act or disposition of property rights; and (3) damages," 
[quoting Welco Electronics, Inc. v. Mora (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 202, 208]; Farmers Ins. 
Exchange v. Zerin (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 445, 452 [claim for conversion of money can be stated 
"if a specific sum capable of identification is involved."].) The Institute cites no case in which § 
12651(a)(4) was applied to a claim based on a duty to pay money under a contract or similar 
statutory payment obligation. (See, e.g., Voris v. Lampert (2019) 7 Cal.5th 1141, 1156, 1163 
[stating that "a claim for unpaid wages resembles other actions for a particular amount of money 
owed in exchange for contractual performance—a type of claim that has long been understood 
to sound in contract, rather than as the tort of conversion," and holding "a conversion claim is 
not an appropriate remedy . . . for wage nonpayment"].)  

Though the Court has doubts as to the Institute's ability to amend to state a conversion claim 
under the CFCA under the circumstances, at this stage the Court cannot state that there is no 
possibility the Institute could not amend to allege a false claim under any of the provisions of 
Government Code § 12651(a)(1)-(8).  

B. Public Disclosure Bar 
 

All defendants argue that the CFCA claim is barred by the prior public disclosure of the 
collective bargaining agreements and memoranda of understanding in public meetings of the  
Board of the District at and after which the agreements were publicly available and at which 
hearings the agreements were approved. Prior public disclosure that meets the criteria of 
Government Code § 12652(d)(3)(A) is a jurisdictional bar to the CFCA claim that requires 
dismissal, unless the plaintiff is able to show that it is an "original source" of the information 
under the criteria of Government Code § 12652(d)(3)(B) and (C). (Govt. Code § 12652(d)(3)(A) 
["The court shall dismiss an action under this section, unless opposed by the Attorney General 
or prosecuting authority of a political subdivision, if substantially the same allegations or 
transactions as alleged in the action or claim were publicly disclosed . . . ." (emphasis 
added)].) The public disclosure bar thus requires a two-step analysis. If there was a public 
disclosure, the Qui Tam Plaintiff might still be able to maintain the action if it can meet the 
"original source" requirement. 

1. Public Disclosures  
 

Not all public filings or disclosures qualify for the public disclosure bar under the CFCA, but 
rather only "certain categories of publicly disclosed information are barred unless the plaintiff is 
an original source of the information." (State ex rel. Bartlett v. Miller (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 
1398, 1407 [holding public filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission are not 
within one of the enumerated types of public disclosure barring claims under Government Code 
§ 12652(d)(3)(A)(i)-(iii)].) Government Code § 12652(d)(3)(A)(i) makes disclosures in a "criminal, 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   01/20/21 

 
 

- 9 - 

civil and administrative hearing" was amended to add a qualification to that provision to apply to 
hearings "in which the state or prosecuting authority of a political subdivision or their agents are 
a party."   

Defendants, however, rely on Government Code § 12652(d)(3)(A)(ii) which requires dismissal if 
the information was publicly disclosed in "A report, hearing, audit, or investigation of the 
Legislature, the state, or governing body of a political subdivision." The Institute argues that 
presenting the collective bargaining agreements for approval at a public hearing before the 
Board, with public notice under the Brown Act (Government Code § 54950 et seq.) and advance 
publication of the agendas and with the collective bargaining agreements being publicly 
available, is not public disclosure of the information by a "report" or "hearing" of the Board.  

The allegations of the FAC are based almost entirely on two sets of facts: (1) the contractual 
terms on the face of the collective bargaining agreements; and (2) the paragraph of Education 
Code § 44987 providing for leave time and reimbursement by the unions at the "full 
compensation" of the employee who is granted leave time under this provision. (FAC ¶¶ 16-24.) 
Defendants have demonstrated that each of the collective bargaining agreements at issue were 
identified in publicly published Agendas for public meetings of the Board of the District, and the 
Institute does not seem to contest the public availability of the agreements. [SRVEA RJN Exhs. 
B-D; CSEA RJN Exhs. B-E; SEIU RJN and Crowley Decl. Exh. A.) The FAC essentially 
compares the publicly disclosed collective bargaining agreements to the provisions of the 
Education Code.  

In terms of the payments made to the District, the Institute makes at best general allegations on 
information and belief that full reimbursement has not been paid as required by Education Code 
§ 44987. It argues the unions are holding the remainder of the reimbursement due in violation of 
the conversion provisions of § 12651(a)(4), and then makes the circular argument that the bare 
allegations to that effect without any factual detail and on information and belief means that the 
CFCA claim is not based on information in the public domain. (FAC ¶¶ 20 [p. 4. ll. 20-21], 25, 
29; but see ¶ 36, p. 8, ll. 13-14 ["Contrary to law, the Union does not reimburse the District for all 
compensation the District pays to the released employees."]; Opp. p. 19, ll. 6-19.) The Court 
finds the argument unpersuasive. 

The Institute tries to convince the Court to ignore two federal decisions addressing disclosures 
made through California local public agency meetings, both of which held the meetings were 
hearings or addressed reports by the governing body involved, and held that the public 
disclosures made at the meetings and public records available as a result of those meetings 
satisfied the public disclosure bar, requiring dismissal of the claims. (See A-1 Ambulance 
Service v. California (9th Cir. 2000) 202 F.3d 1238 ("A-1 Ambulance"), and United States ex rel. 
Sanches v. City of Crescent City (N.D. Cal. November 10, 2010) No. C08-05663 MEJ, 2010 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119564 at *1.) Though these cases construed the former version of the statute 
which referred to "administrative hearings" without the qualifications added to § 
12652(d)(3)(A)(i), the analysis of the role of the local agency meetings as "administrative 
hearings" applies with equal force to the provisions of § 12652(d)(3)(A)(ii) for reports and 
hearings before the governing body of the political subdivision. The public hearing, comment 
and approval process for approval of the collective bargaining agreements at issue through the 
regularly noticed Board meetings are particularly analogous to the public competitive bid 
process and approval in A-1 Ambulance Service v. California, supra, 202 F.3d at 1241-1242. (A-
1 Ambulance Service v. California, supra, 202 F.3d at 1243, 1244 [in which the Court 
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recognized the bids were part of "extensive public agency proceedings" and the "inherently 
public nature of the bidding process"].)  

The Institute has not argued any meaningful basis on which to distinguish A-1 Ambulance 
Service in particular as a result, but instead argues A-1 Ambulance was wrongly decided. (Opp. 
p. 16, l. 17.) The Court disagrees, and finds the analysis is consistent with the reasoning of 
other California decisions analyzing the public disclosure bar. As in A-1 Ambulance, the material 
facts on which the FAC is based were publicly disclosed in the collective bargaining agreements 
presented for public comment and approval at the Board's hearings. The FAC does not allege 
material facts on which the claim is based other than the public contract provisions and the 
Education Code statute, and thus the FAC alleges nothing on which the claim is based that was 
not already known to the government. (See State of California v. Pacific Bell Telephone Co. 
(2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 741, 754 [in a case in which there were articles in trade publications and 
that annual reports filed with the Controller of escheated funds that omitted certain phone cards 
publicly disclosed the transactions on which the qui tam claim was based, stating "the 
information in the public domain had clearly alerted the government to defendant's failure to 
either report or escheat breakage"].)  

Though it seems likely the CFCA claim asserted in this case is barred by the public disclosure 
bar, and though it seems the Institute may not be disputing that the collective bargaining 
agreements were publicly noticed, disclosed, and provided and/or available to the Board and the 
public at the Board hearings where they were approved, and though the Court has doubts that 
the Institute could allege facts to meet the "original source" exception to the disclosure bar, at 
this stage, the Court sustains the demurrer with leave to amend, to allow the Institute to 
allege, if it can with a good faith basis in fact and in law, facts that would support that the 
collective bargaining agreements were not publicly disclosed through the Board meetings at 
which they were approved and not otherwise publicly available and/or that facts that would 
support that the Institute is an original source within the standards of Government Code § 
12652(d)(3)(B) and (C).  

C. Violation of Education Statutes 
 

The Institute concedes that the only Education Code provision cited and relied on for the claim 
in the FAC is Education Code § 44987. The Institute concedes that statute is inapplicable to the 
CSEA and SEIU whose employee members are not certificated employees. (Opp. p. 10, ll. 10-
14.) The Court addresses the underlying grounds for the Qui Tam Plaintiff's claim against the 
CSEA and SIEU first and separately from the claim against the SVREA, as to which Education 
Code § 44987 alleged in the FAC is applicable. 

1. No Violation of Applicable Law as to CSEA and SEIU 
 

The statute that the Institute concedes governs the CSEA and SEIU and release time is 
Education Code § 45210. Though the statute includes a provision similar to Education Code § 
44987 for reimbursement for all compensation of the District employee for release time for 
services to the union, by its terms § 45210 is inapplicable where a collective bargaining 
agreement exists. The statute provides: "This section shall not apply to an employee who is 
subject to a collective bargaining agreement that expressly provides for a leave of absence 
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without loss of compensation for participation in authorized activities as an elected officer or an 
unelected member of the public employee organization."  

The CSEA and SEIU also point to Government Code § 3543.1(c), which addresses the rights of 
employee organizations, and does not require reimbursement of employee compensation. That 
statute states "(c) A reasonable number of representatives of an exclusive representative shall 
have the right to receive reasonable periods of released time without loss of compensation 
when meeting and negotiating and for the processing of grievances."  They cite to Government 
Code § 3558.8, which became effective January 1, 2019. Government Code § 3555.5 makes 
Government Code § 3558.8 applicable to public employees covered by Government Code § 
3540 et seq. (employees of public school systems) as well as other public employees. 
Government Code § 3558.8(a) requires a public employer to grant leave "without loss of 
compensation or other benefits for the purpose of enabling employees to serve as stewards or 
officers of the exclusive representative, or of any statewide or national employee organization 
with which the exclusive representative is affiliated." Government Code § 3558.8(b) provides in 
pertinent part that "The exclusive representative or employee organization shall reimburse the 
public employer for all compensation paid to the employee on leave unless otherwise 
provided by a collective bargaining agreement or memorandum of understanding." (Govt. 
Code § 3558.8(b) [emphasis added].)  

The Qui Tam Plaintiff's Opposition does not address these statutes, which appear to be fatal to 
the claim it is attempting to assert against CSEA and SEIU under the circumstances. Though 
the Institute's ability to cure this defect seems exceedingly remote given these statutes, at this 
stage on an initial demurrer, the Court will not foreclose the possibility that the Institute might be 
able to amend to state a claim against the CSEA and SEIU.  

2. The Statutes Applicable to the SVREA 
 

The SRVEA cites a series of statutes that clearly authorize release time for the District's 
employees for service to their local, statewide and national unions to support its position that the 
legality of release time, and implicitly the reimbursement for release time, is governed by its 
collective bargaining agreement with the District, not any Education Code or other statute. 
(Educ. Code §§ 44987, 44963; Govt. Code §§ 3540.1, 3543.1, 3543.2, 3558.8.) However, the 
fact that the reimbursement provision for release time is contained in a collective bargaining 
agreement agreed to by the District and the defendant unions does not automatically make the 
reimbursement provision lawful. A provision in a collective bargaining agreement that violates an 
explicit Education Code statute is unlawful. (Dixon v. Bd. of Trustees, supra, 216 Cal.App.3d at 
1280.) Some of the statutes SRVEA cites do not address the reimbursement amount for 
employees granted leave to participate in their employee organizations but instead only address 
the requirement that employees be granted leave. (Govt. Code §§ 3540.1, 3543.1(c), 3543.2, 
and Educ. Code § 44963.) 

Reading the FAC as a whole, as the Court must on a demurrer, the FAC alleges that the 
contractual reimbursement rates in the union contracts do not comply with Education Code § 
44987, which provides in pertinent part that "the school district shall be reimbursed by the 
employee organization of which the employee is an elected officer for all compensation paid 
the employee on account of the leave." (Educ. Code § 44987(a).) As SRVEA points out, the 
leave authorized under Education Code § 44987 is in addition to leave authorized under other 
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statutes. "The leave of absence without loss of compensation provided for by this section is in 
addition to the released time without loss of compensation granted to representatives of an 
exclusive representative by subdivision (c) of Section 3543.1 of the Government Code." (Id.) 
Unlike Education Code § 45210, Education Code § 44987 has no provision allowing 
modification of the reimbursement provisions or making that statute inapplicable when an 
employee is covered by a collective bargaining agreement. 

Government Code § 3543.1(c), and § 3558.8 in particular, described above, support SRVEA's 
position that there are various types of leave allowed to certificated employees represented by 
SRVEA which may be governed by different reimbursement amounts, including reimbursement 
rates negotiated by the District and the SRVEA in a collective bargaining agreement. (SRVEA 
Reply p. 2.) SRVEA's position appears to be that the SVREA pays the District the 
reimbursement amount required under Education Code § 44987(a), notwithstanding the 
collective bargaining agreement terms alleged in the FAC, because that leave and the 
reimbursement amount is governed by the Education Code, and that other types of leave are 
paid by the employer, the union, or by both in part based on the collective bargaining 
agreements as permitted by Government Code §§ 3543.1(c) and 3558.8(b). (Reply p. 2.) The 
Institute has not responded to or addressed any of the Education Code or Government Code 
statutes relied on by the SRVEA. 

The Court is not persuaded by the PERB decision in Centinela Valley Secondary Teachers 
Association v. Centinela Valley Union High School District, PERB Decision No. 2378 
("Centinela") (SRVEA Memo. Exh. 3) that the claims raised by the FAC in this case are subject 
to PERB's exclusive jurisdiction, particularly in view of the factual context and issues involved in 
that decision. (See Centinela, SRVEA Memo. Exh. 3, pp. 5-7.) However, the Centinela decision 
supports SRVEA's position in this regard and undermines in part the claims made in the FAC. 
(SRVEA Memo. Exh. 3, pp. 7-8 ["Association leave" is not granted under Education Code § 
44987].) Nevertheless, having to accept factual allegations of the FAC as true on demurrer, the 
Court has not been directed to provisions in the SRVEA contract, or other materials in the 
record before the Court on the demurrer from which it can conclude as a matter of law that the 
rate provisions in the SRVEA contract for leave cited in the FAC do not apply to SRVEA 
personnel who are granted Education Code § 44987 leave and that SRVEA is complying with 
the reimbursement required by Education Code § 44987 to the extent it applies to any leave 
allowed under the collective bargaining agreement or alleged in the FAC. 

D. Gift of Public Funds under the California Constitution 
 

The Institute argues that even if it cannot state a violation of the Education Code statutes for 
reimbursement of the District for employee leave to perform union service, the FAC states a 
cause of action based on California Constitution, Art. XVI, Sec. 6 precluding gifts of public funds. 
Defendants argue that where public funds are used for public purposes, there is no gift of public 
funds in violation of the Constitution, even though a private corporation may benefit, citing 
Community Memorial Hospital v. County of Ventura (1996) 50 Cal. App. 4th 199 and Paramount 
Unified School Dist. v. Teachers Assn. of Paramount (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 1371. In Paramount 
Unified School Dist. v. Teachers Assn. of Paramount, supra, the Court rejected a challenge to 
an arbitration award in favor of a teacher as being a gift of public funds in violation of the Article 
XVI, section 6 of the California Constitution, concluding that the Legislature's determination of 
public benefits of providing for binding arbitration for employee disputes was manifest in the 
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Government Code provisions making binding arbitration available for dispute with teachers. (Id. 
at 1388.) (See also Preston v. State Bd. of Equalization (2001) 25 Cal.4th 197, 225 [in which the 
Court upheld a retroactive tax exemption against a challenge that it constituted a gift of public 
funds in violation of Article XVI, section 6 of the California Constitution, stating " 'expenditures of 
public funds or property which involve a benefit to private persons are not gifts within the 
meaning … of the Constitution if those funds are expended for a public purpose … .' [Citation 
omitted.] 'The determination of what constitutes a public purpose is primarily a matter for the 
Legislature, and its discretion will not be disturbed by the courts so long as that determination 
has a reasonable basis.' [Citation omitted.]"]; County of Alameda v. Janssen (1940) 16 Cal.2d 
276, 281].) The Court in County of Alameda v. Janssen, supra, explained that "The benefit to 
the state from an expenditure for a 'public purpose' is in the nature of consideration and the 
funds expended are therefore not a gift even though private persons are benefited therefrom. 
[Citations omitted.]" (Id. at 281.) It is primarily up to the Legislature to make "the determination of 
what constitutes a public purpose . . . and its discretion will not be disturbed by the courts so 
long as that determination has a reasonable basis." (County of Alameda v. Carleson (1971) 5 
Cal.3d 730, 746.) 

The defendants have cited a number of statutes in which the Legislature has provided for 
employees of the District to participate in union activities without any loss of compensation, in 
some instances not providing for any reimbursement to the District for the employee's 
compensation, in others requiring reimbursement, and in others leaving it to the collective 
bargaining agreement and negotiations and contractual consideration agreed to by the parties 
regarding the nature and extent of any reimbursement. (Educ. Code §§ 44997, 45210; Govt. 
Code §§ 3543.1(c), 3558.8.) These reflect the judgment of the Legislature that there is a public 
benefit to promoting positive employee relations through the public employees' relationships 
with and participation in their unions expressed in, among other statutes, Government Code § 
3540.  

E. Failure to Plead CFCA Claim with Specificity 
 

The requirement that the CFCA claim be pled with specificity is not limited to a false claim 
founded on fraud but applies to any claim asserted under the CFCA because statutory claims 
are required to be pled with specificity as to each element of the statute. (Baskin v. Hughes 
Realty, Inc., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 207; Hawkins v. TACA Internat. Airlines, S.A., supra, 223 
Cal.App.4th at 478-479 [affirming order sustaining demurrer for failure to plead facts to support 
the cause of action founded on statute, finding allegations which merely state the language of 
the statute without alleging specific facts to be insufficient].) 

The FAC alleges at best in general terms non-specific leave time was taken for which the 
Institute is informed and believes compensation was not paid at the rate required under the 
applicable statute. The FAC does not allege the employees to which the allegations applies, the 
time frames, or otherwise identify with specificity the "public property or money" that it contends 
was not delivered under § 12651(a)(4), among other missing or generalized allegations without 
specific facts supporting the claim. This provides an additional ground to sustain the demurrer 
to this cause of action. 

III. Non-CFRA Claims for Declaratory Relief and Unjust Enrichment 
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Qui Tam Plaintiff argues a "liberal" construction of the CFRA means that the Qui Tam Plaintiff 
can assert any causes of action outside the CFCA that the State or other public entity might 
have. The Court disagrees. 

A. Extension of Standing to Claims Outside the CFCA 
 

Plaintiff concedes there are no state authorities that support its position on standing to assert 
common law claims of the State or the District. (Opp. p. 21, ll. 1-4.) Government Code § 
12652(c) states only that a "person may bring a civil action for violation of this article" for the 
person filing the claim, and for the State or a political subdivision. Nothing in this provision 
grants the Qui Tam Plaintiff authority to file any claim other than the claim for violation of the 
CFCA, including common law or other claims that the State or political subdivision may be 
entitled to assert.  

Government Code § 126521(f) only refers to the Qui Tam Plaintiff' having "the same right to 
conduct the action" as the State or political subdivision, meaning the action for violation of the 
CFCA. (Govt. Code § 12652(f)(1).) This interpretation of the limited standing accorded to a qui 
tam plaintiff under the CFCA is consistent with federal decisions interpreting the analogous 
Federal Act, including cases in which courts have dismissed unjust enrichment claims by the 
relator. (United States ex rel. Rockefeller v. Westinghouse Elec. Co. (D. D.C. 2003) 274 
F.Supp.2d 10, 14 [dismissing unjust enrichment and other claims, and citing United States ex 
rel. Phipps v. Comprehensive Cmty. Dev. Corp. (S.D.N.Y. 2001) 152 F.Supp.2d 443, 451-52]; 
United States ex rel. Walsh v. Eastman Kodak Co. (D. Mass. 2000) 98 F.Supp.2d 141, 149 
[dismissing common law claims for unjust enrichment among others].) (See also Vermont 
Agency of Natural Resources v. U.S. ex rel. Stevens (2000) 529 U.S. 765, 773 [in which the 
Court states "The FCA can reasonably be regarded as effecting a partial assignment of the 
Government's damages claim." (Emphasis added)]; United States ex rel. Barrett v. 
Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp. (D.D.C. 2003) 251 F.Supp.2d 28, 37 [the common law claims 
are personal to the government entity and cannot be pursued by the relator].)  

B. Taxpayer Standing for Declaratory Relief Cause of Action 
 

Qui Tam Plaintiff argues that it has standing individually to sue the unions for declaratory relief 
under Code of Civil Procedure § 526a. The Institute argues courts have allowed "associational" 
standing by an organization such as the Institute to pursue relief under Code of Civil Procedure 
§ 526a where it alleges one of its members would have standing. (Gilbane Building Co. v. 
Superior Court (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 1527, 1531 [relying on and following in Taxpayers for 
Accountable School Bond Spending v. San Diego Unified School Dist. (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 
1013, 1031–1033, stating "[I]t has been held a representative organization or association may 
have standing to bring an action if its members would have had standing to bring that action as 
individuals.” [Citation omitted.] Accordingly, the court concluded even though the organization 
itself did not pay taxes, it had standing because its members were taxpayers and residents 
within the school district"].) The Articles of Incorporation for the Institute (CSEA RJN Exh. A) 
show that one of its purposes is "to promote responsibility in state and local government," 
making the interests it is trying to assert by this claim "germane to the organization's purpose" 
for associational standing purposes. (Property Owners of Whispering Palms, Inc. v. Newport 
Pacific, Inc. (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 666, 673.) It may have taxpayer standing to assert a claim 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   01/20/21 

 
 

- 15 - 

under Code of Civil Procedure § 526a based on the Articles and the allegations of paragraph 6 
of the FAC, taken as true by the Court for purposes of the demurrer. 

C. Sufficiency of the Allegations of the Declaratory Relief Cause of Action to State A 
Claim 
 

Defendants also challenge the declaratory relief claim under Code of Civil Procedure § 526a on 
because the defendants are not proper parties under the statute, which provides: "An action to 
obtain a judgment, restraining and preventing any illegal expenditure of, waste of, or injury to, 
the estate, funds, or other property of a local agency, may be maintained against any officer 
thereof, or any agent, or other person, acting in its behalf . . ." (Emphasis added.) Code of 
Civil Procedure § 526a is an injunctive relief statute, not a declaratory relief statute. The Institute 
has not pled an injunctive relief claim under that statute.  

More important, the defendants are not alleged to be, nor could they be alleged to be, officers, 
agents or others acting on behalf of the "local agency" (the District), as the statute requires. That 
the union organizations may have contracts with the Districts to represent the employees who 
work for the District does not mean the unions are acting "on behalf of" the District. That 
members of the defendant unions may be employees of the District does not make the union 
organizations themselves "agents" or "others" acting on behalf of the District. The Institute cites 
no authority to support its position.  

The Institute offers to amend the FAC to allege facts to support that the employee unions are 
agents or acting on behalf of the District. (Opp. p. 21, fn. 11.)  

The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend.  

D. No Standing for Unjust Enrichment Claim  
 

Unlike the declaratory relief cause of action, the Institute states no basis in the FAC or any 
argument for it to pursue its unjust enrichment claim, except as a common law claim made on 
behalf of the State or the District. For the reasons stated above, the Institute as Qui Tam Plaintiff 
has no standing to do so, and no amendment of the FAC to assert such a right is reasonably 
possible under the applicable law. 

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01225 
CASE NAME: SRVUSD VS SRVEA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of SAN RAMON VALLEY 
USD, FILED BY SAN RAMON VALLEY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 3. 
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 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01225 
CASE NAME: SRVUSD VS SRVEA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of SAN RAMON VALLEY 
USD, FILED BY CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 3. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01265 
CASE NAME: SHAPELL VS REGREEN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE 1ST AMND CROSS CMPLT OF REGREEN 
FILED BY SHAPELL NORCAL RENTAL PROPERTIES LLC, SHAPELL DEER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Dropped from calendar at request of moving party. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00345 
CASE NAME: SOLANO AFFORDABLE HOUSING VS T 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER GRANTING PERMISSION TO SUBMIT 
PETITION FILED BY SOLANO AFFORDABLE HOUSING FOUNDATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
 Plaintiff Solano Affordable Housing Foundation’s Motion for Order Granting Permission 
to Submit Petition for Coordination and Application for Stay are denied. 
Plaintiff brings this motion pursuant to CCP § 404 et seq.  This section is reserved for 
coordination of complex cases.  Plaintiff has not presented facts demonstrating the cases to be 
coordinated are complex.     
 
Background 
 
 Plaintiff Solano Affordable Housing Foundation (“SAHF”) specializes in providing 
affordable housing for residents in Solano County and adjoining counties.  Defendant Thomas 
Alborg is an attorney, whose principal place of business is in Walnut Creek.  In September 
2017, Plaintiff sought legal advice from Alborg as to any potential adverse legal exposure to 
SAHF or its Board Members regarding the executive director compensation package given to its 
then executive director, Dennis McCray.      
 
 Plaintiff alleges that it is possible that some or all of the payments stated or demanded 
by McCray were or would be “prohibited transactions.”  Defendants failed to advise SAHF of the 
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possibility that the IRS could take action against the directors who participated in the 
transactions and impose certain taxes.  
  
 Plaintiff filed this action for professional negligence and breach of fiduciary duty. 
This action against Alborg is one of two cases Plaintiff has against law firms arising from their 
advice regarding McCray’s compensation.  Plaintiff has a pending lawsuit in Solano County, 
Solano Affordable Housing Foundation v. Cox, Castle & Nicholson, LLP, Case No. FCS055445.  
 
 Motion 
 
 Plaintiff contends the Alborg and Cox Castle actions share common questions of fact 
and law pertaining to the propriety of legal advice that the respective law firms gave Plaintiff.  
Both firms advised Plaintiff as to whether the compensation paid to SAHF’s former executive 
director was reasonable and whether SAHF should have been advised by its lawyers to 
undertake a formal executive compensation study. Both complaints allege causes of action for 
professional negligence and breach of fiduciary duty arising out of the defendants’ advice to 
Plaintiff.  CCP § 404 provides in part: 
 

When civil actions sharing a common question of fact or law are pending in 
different courts, a petition for coordination may be submitted to the Chairperson 
of the Judicial Council, by the presiding judge of any such court, or by any party 
to one of the actions after obtaining permission from the presiding judge, or by all 
of the parties plaintiff or defendant in any such action.  

 
 Plaintiff argues that coordinating these actions will allow for the efficient use judicial 
resources—one judge and one court. Pursuant to CCP §§ 404 et seq. and Cal. Rules of Court, 
Rules 3.510 et seq., Plaintiff brings this motion for an Order permitting Plaintiff to submit a 
Petition for Coordination to the Chairperson of the Judicial Council. 
 
 Plaintiff also seeks a stay of proceedings in order to allow sufficient time for submission 
of the Petition for Coordination to the Judicial Council. The Court may order a stay to allow 
SAHF sufficient time to prepare the Petition for Coordination.  SAHF requests a 30-day stay of 
the proceedings, pursuant to Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 3.520(b)(3). 
 
 Defendants oppose the motion, arguing the motion is procedurally defective and 
factually baseless. First, Plaintiff brings this motion pursuant to CCP § 404, which clearly states 
that the cases to be coordinated must be “complex.” Plaintiff fails to state the cases are complex 
in the moving memorandum.  The declaration in support of the motion is bereft of any facts 
showing the cases are complex, as defined by Judicial Council. 
 
 CCP § 404 provides in part: “A petition for coordination, or a motion for permission to 
submit a petition, shall be supported by a declaration stating facts showing that the actions are 
complex, as defined by the Judicial Council and that the actions meet the standards specified 
in Section 404.1.” 
 
 Secondly, Defendant argues Plaintiff’s counsel’s declaration failed to mention any “facts 
relied on to show that a stay order is necessary and appropriate to effectuate the purposes of 
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coordination.” (See Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 3.515(b)(3).) Plaintiff presented no facts upon 
which a judge can make a determination if a stay is necessary or appropriate. 
 
Analysis 
 
  The Court agrees with Defendants.  In 1996, the Legislature enacted legislation that 
created a dichotomy between the coordination of complex and noncomplex cases. CCP § 404 
was amended to cover coordination of only complex cases and retained involvement of the 
Judicial Council.   
 
 Section 403 was added to cover the “coordination” of noncomplex cases.  It provides:  
 

A judge may, on motion, transfer an action or actions from another court to that 
judge’s court for coordination with an action involving a common question of fact 
or law within the meaning of Section 404. The motion shall be supported by a 
declaration stating facts showing that the actions meet the standards specified 
in Section 404.1, are not complex as defined by the Judicial Council and that the 
moving party has made a good faith effort to obtain agreement to the transfer 
from all parties to each action. (Emphasis added.) 
 

 No involvement of the Judicial Council is required under section 403.  While the moving 
papers failed to mention the cases are complex, Plaintiff attempts to argue in the Reply the 
cases are indeed complex.  Plaintiff claims both the motion and the declaration in support 
thereof set forth facts indicating this matter involves a complex commercial dispute, with multiple 
parties and actions, involving a non-profit and multiple government agencies. Plaintiff claims this 
case involves novel legal issues, including complex compensation legal issues, involving 
potential CA Attorney General and IRS actions. Plaintiff argues this case fits the definition of 
“complex,” as defined in CRC, Rule 3.400.  
    
 The Court points out that Plaintiff’s Case Cover Sheet indicates that this case is not 
complex under Rule 3.400 of the California Rules of Court.  The court file does not reflect any 
attempt to have the case designated as complex.  
 
 “‘Complex litigation' means those cases that require specialized management to avoid 
placing unnecessary burdens on the court or the litigants. Complex litigation is not capable of 
precise definition but may involve, for example, multiple related cases, extensive pretrial activity, 
extended trial times, difficult or novel issues, and postjudgment judicial supervision, or may 
concern special categories such as class actions; however, no particular criterion is controlling 
and each situation must be examined separately." (Id., former subd. (c).)’” (First State Ins. Co. v. 
Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 324, 332.) 
 
 Plaintiff argues there are novel legal issues, but Plaintiff identified the common questions 
in both cases pertain to the propriety of the respective legal advice regarding whether the 
compensation package of the executive director of SAHF was reasonable or excessive and 
whether the lawyers should have advised SAHF to undertake a formal executive compensation 
study.  There does not appear to be any novel or difficult legal issues involved in determining 
whether the lawyers met the standard of care.  
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 In looking at some of the other factors under Cal Rules of Court, Rule 3.400, Plaintiff has 
not demonstrated the complex should be deemed complex.  Plaintiff has not presented any 
facts showing there will be numerous pretrial motions raising difficult or novel legal issues that 
will be time-consuming to resolve; a large number of witnesses or a substantial amount of 
documentary evidence; or a large number of separately represented parties.  According to 
Defendants, there are only three parties total.  
 
 Plaintiff requested in the Reply that in the event the Court finds the cases are not 
complex that the Court considers transfer and consolidation under CCP § 403.  However, 
section 403 requires the moving party to have “made a good faith effort to obtain agreement to 
the transfer from all parties to each action.”  (See also CRC, Rule 3.500(c).) Plaintiff has not 
filed a declaration indicating this requirement has been met. 
 
 As to the application for stay pursuant to Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 3.520(b)(3), the 
request is moot, as Plaintiff has not established the cases are complex and therefore there is no 
need to petition the Judicial Council. The stay is permitted, “to provide sufficient time for a party 
to submit a petition.” Request for stay is therefore denied.   
 
 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01019 
CASE NAME: TULLY VS CHOUINARD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR MANDATORY ATTORNEY FEES FILED BY CAROL 
CHOUINARD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendant Chouinard’s motion for attorney fees is granted in part.  Plaintiff Tully sued 
Chouinard for defamation per se and four other causes of action based on numerous tweets by 
Chouinard critical of Tully. Chouinard successfully defeated the lawsuit via a special motion to 
strike. In this motion, Chouinard seeks to recover his fees and costs pursuant to CCP 425.16. 

A “prevailing defendant on a special motion to strike shall be entitled to recover his or 
her attorney’s fees and costs.”  CCP 425.16(c). In determining the amount of fees, the court is 
instructed to calculate the lodestar amount by multiplying the “number of hours reasonably 
expended  . . . by the reasonable hourly rate.” PLCM Group, Inc. v. Drexler (2000) 22 Cal.4th 
1084, 1095. Defendant has the burden of proof to justify the reasonableness of his fees. 
Christian Research Institute v. Alnor (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1315, 1320. 

Plaintiff concedes defense counsel’s $450 hourly rate and the legal assistant’s $150 
hourly rate are reasonable. Plaintiff challenges the number of hours expended and the poor 
description of defendant’s billing entries citing Chrisitian Research, among other cases. After 
considering all the evidence and carefully reviewing the billing entries, the court agrees that 
defense counsel’s hours are somewhat excessive. 

The court acknowledges that Chouinard’s counsel is a sole practitioner who was 
required to mount a defense to 5 distinct causes of action, and that he had to conduct a forensic 
analysis to retrieve deleted tweets and reconstruct the context for the underlying statements. At 
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the same time, counsel’s hourly rate is reasonable because of his expertise with these very 
types of issues. As counsel explained, he was selected to represent Chouinard due to his 
technical savvy and his experience representing clients in anti-SLAPP cases. 

Here, defense counsel routinely worked in excess of 8 hours per day on the file, vaguely 
describing his work as “conduct research” and “review.” In the court’s experience, billing in 
excess of 7 to 8 hours per day on the same or similar tasks becomes increasingly unproductive 
and leads to inefficiencies. The court deducts 30 billed hours and finds 194.2 hours for defense 
counsel to be reasonable for a total of $87,390. 

The court finds all hours worked by the legal assistant to be reasonable. Appropriate 
fees allocated to the assistant are $150/hour x 43.7 hours or $6,555. 

Plaintiff did not challenge costs so costs of $637.65 are awarded in full. 

Plaintiff is ordered to pay defense counsel reasonable fees and costs of $94,582.65. 

 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01035 
CASE NAME: CSAA INSURANCE EXCHANGE VS BSH 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PLTF'S COMPLAINT FILED BY BSH 
HOME APPLIANCES CORPORATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to 2/24/21 by stipulation of parties.  

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01577 
CASE NAME: EDWARD DAVIESS VS. BRIDGESTONE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR IMMEDIATE STAY 
FILED BY BRIDGESTONE RETAIL OPERATIONS LLC, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

In light of the Court’s granting of defendants’ companion motion to compel arbitration, 

defendants’ motion for stay is also granted.  This entire action is stayed as against all parties 

pending the outcome of arbitration. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-015.77 
CASE NAME: EDWARD DAVIESS VS. BRIDGESTONE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER COMPELLING ARBITRATION 
FILED BY BRIDGESTONE RETAIL OPERATIONS LLC, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
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 The Court rules as follows on the motion to compel arbitration brought by defendant 

Bridgestone Retail Operations, LLC (“Bridgestone LLC”) and Bridgestone Americas, Inc. 

(“Bridgestone Corporation”).  Defendants’ motion to compel arbitration is granted.  Plaintiff is 

directed to properly tab exhibits in all future filings.  (See, Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.1110, 

subd. (f).) 

 A. Defendant Bridgestone Corporation. 

 Plaintiff argues that arbitration should be denied because one of the two Bridgestone 

entities, Bridgestone Corporation, is not named as a party to the arbitration agreement.  This 

argument is lacks merit for two independent reasons. 

First, the agreement expressly requires plaintiff to arbitrate any claim against 

Bridgestone LLC’s affiliated entities.  (Defendants’ Exh. “A”, § 2C; Avila Dec., ¶ 4.)  The Court 

notes that plaintiff did not address this contractual language in plaintiff’s opposition 

memorandum. 

Second, in the Complaint plaintiff identified both Bridgestone entities collectively as his 

“Employer.”  (Complaint, ¶¶ 2, 3, and 6.)  And plaintiff has sued both entities in all causes of 

action, making no distinction between them.  (Complaint, passim.)  Plaintiff is therefore 

estopped from denying Bridgestone Corporation’s right to arbitrate.  (See, Garcia v. Pexco, LLC 

(2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 782, 785-788.)  

 B. Procedural Unconscionability. 

 The Court finds two indicia of modest procedural unconscionability.  First, plaintiff was 

required to sign the arbitration agreement as a condition of his employment.  (See, Armendariz 

v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 115 [“few employees are in 

a position to refuse a job because of an arbitration requirement”].)  Second, the agreement 

incorporated by reference rules from other sources, including the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure.  (See, Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp. (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 393.) 

 C. Substantive Unconscionability. 

 Plaintiff alleges that eight terms of the arbitration agreement are substantively 

unconscionable.  The Court rules as follows on each term. 

  1. The Employer’s Right to Modify. 

 Not Unconscionable.  Plaintiff argues that the employer’s right to modify the arbitration 

agreement is unconscionable.  The argument lacks merit, because a long line of California 

cases holds that any such right is constrained by the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing.  (See, e.g., Serafin v. Balco Properties Ltd., LLC (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 165, 176.)  

The cursory discussion of this point in the federal Ingle decision is not persuasive, and has been 

disregarded by the California Court of Appeal.  (See, Peng v. First Republic Bank (2013) 219 

Cal.App.4th 1462, 1474, fn. 8 [“[w]e decline plaintiff's invitation to follow Ingle”].)  
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  2. The Contractual Time Limits. 

 Not Unconscionable.  Plaintiff argues that the contractual time limits for mediation and 

arbitration are unconscionable.  The agreement requires employees to participate in mediation 

before arbitration, and gives them 30 days after mediation is concluded to initiate arbitration. 

 The Court concurs with defendants’ argument that the contractual limits do not 

in fact shorten the applicable statutes of limitation.  The pertinent contractual language provides 

as follows: 

§5.B Request for Mediation must be filed within ninety (90) days of the event 
giving rise to the Dispute or before the expiration of the applicable statute of 
limitations, whichever is longer.  [Emphasis added.] 
 

Given this language, employees could wait until the day before an applicable statute of 

limitations expires to initiate mediation, and still pursue a timely arbitration. 

  3. Notice Requirements. 

 Not Unconscionable.  The arbitration agreement’s “enhanced notice” requirements for a 

demand for arbitration strike the Court as innocuous.  Plaintiff offers no evidence that the notice 

requirements would cause “a costly burden” or “an unfair discovery advantage,” and plaintiff’s 

citation to the introductory discussion of unconscionability in Armendariz does not support his 

argument.  Defendants correctly observe that plaintiff’s 43-page complaint provides defendants 

with substantially more detail than would be required under the two-page demand for arbitration 

form attached to the arbitration agreement. 

  4. Limitations On Discovery. 

 Unconscionable.  The arbitration agreement sets a default limit of one deposition and 30 

interrogatories for each side.  The arbitration agreement also sets extraordinarily tight deadlines 

for the completion of discovery.  The Court finds these discovery limitations substantively 

unconscionable. 

The default limitation of one deposition in the case at bar is particularly troubling, given 

that this is an employment discrimination case.  The Fitz decision found a limit of two 

depositions unconscionable, stating as follows: 

Any benefit Fitz may derive from the ACT policy's discovery limitations is 

outweighed by the burden of being limited to only two depositions.  Given the 

complexity of employment disputes, the outcomes of which are often determined 

by the testimony of multiple percipient witnesses, as well as written information 

about the disputed employment practice, it will be the unusual instance where the 

deposition of two witnesses will be sufficient to present a case. 

(Fitz v. NCR Corp. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 702, 717.) 
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The California courts have repeatedly noted that, because employment discrimination 

plaintiffs must ordinarily prove discriminatory intent by circumstantial evidence, they face unique 

“difficulties of proof.”  (Mamou v. Trendwest Resorts, Inc. (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 686, 713.)  

Thus, to show discrimination, employees will ordinarily have to prove not only that they were 

qualified for her job, that they were in a protected class, and that they suffered an adverse 

employment action, but also — through circumstantial evidence — that all reasons offered by 

the employer for that adverse action were pretextual.  (Ibid.) 

While the arbitrator in the case at bar is given limited discretion to exceed the default 

discovery limits and deadlines, that discretion would have to be exercised with reference to the 

‘norm’ established by the default limits.  Because the arbitrator’s very jurisdiction is defined by 

the arbitration agreement, few arbitrators would likely feel comfortable allowing a plaintiff three 

or more depositions when the agreement authorizes only one, even if such discovery is clearly 

necessary to a full and fair opportunity to establish the plaintiff’s claims by circumstantial 

evidence.  (See, Fitz, supra, 118 Cal.App.4th at 717  [arbitrator’s discretion “is an inadequate 

safety valve” when that discretion must be exercised with reference to an unreasonable 

standard].) 

  5. Attorney Fees. 

 Not Unconscionable.  Plaintiff argues that the arbitration agreement is substantively 

unconscionable because it prohibits him from recovering attorney fees in his statutory causes of 

action.  The Court finds that this argument lacks merit, because the Court agrees with 

defendants’ interpretation of the pertinent contractual language: the only limitation on attorney 

fees is that such fees can only be awarded “in accordance with applicable law.”  (See Reply, 

pp. 8-9.) 

  6. Lack of Neutrality. 

 Not Unconscionable.  Plaintiff argues that the arbitration agreement’s selection of the 

American Arbitration Association is substantively unconscionable because the AAA must be 

presumed to be biased in favor of defendants as so called “repeat players.”  The Court finds this 

argument unpersuasive; plaintiff has failed to offer any evidence that it would be difficult to find a 

neutral arbitrator through a large and respected organization like the AAA.  (Cf., Armendariz v. 

Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 111 [“there are sufficient 

institutional safeguards, such as scrutiny by the plaintiff's bar and appointing agencies like the 

AAA, to protect against corrupt arbitrators”].) 

  7. Lack of Mutuality. 

 Not Unconscionable.  Plaintiff argues that the arbitration agreement’s ‘carve-out’ of 

claims for trade secret and noncompete violations is substantively unconscionable because only 

the employer is likely to assert such claims.  The Court finds that this argument lacks merit.  The 

carve-out has an obvious and reasonable business justification: the claims excluded from 

arbitration often require litigation against third parties who are not parties to the arbitration 
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agreement, and also require injunctive relief that only the Superior Court can effectively issue 

and enforce.  (See, Lange v. Monster Energy Co. (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 436, 449-450.) 

  8. Confidentiality. 

 Not Unconscionable.  Plaintiff argues that section 14 of the arbitration agreement is 

substantively unconscionable.  Section 14 provides as follows: “The arbitrator shall maintain the 

privacy of the hearings to the extent permitted by law.” 

 The Court finds that this argument lacks merit.  Section 14 is directed to the conduct of 

the arbitrator, not the parties, and is merely an admonition that the arbitrator must take 

reasonable measures to protect the parties’ privacy.  It does not purport to prohibit plaintiff from 

discussing the arbitration proceeding with others, subject to any other legal constraints there 

may be, should plaintiff choose to do so. 

D. Severance. 

 Because the Court finds only modest procedural unconscionability, and only one 

substantively unconscionable term, the Court exercises its discretion to sever the 

unconscionable term and enforce the arbitration agreement.  The arbitration shall proceed, but 

with the contractual limits on discovery severed and unenforceable.  Of course, the arbitrator will 

retain full discretion to impose reasonable limits on discovery, consistent with the arbitrator’s 

assessment of the unique features of this case, but any such limits will not be constrained by the 

unconscionable ‘default’ limits set by the agreement. 

 E. Evidentiary Objections. 

 Defendants’ evidentiary objections are sustained.  The subject portions of Ms. Mora’s 
opposition declaration are inadmissible as improper hearsay, as irrelevant to the present motion, 
or as gratuitous quotations from communications between counsel.  However, these evidentiary 
rulings were not essential to the Court’s ruling, which is based on defendants’ own evidence 
concerning the circumstances under which the arbitration agreement was signed and the terms 
of that agreement. 

 

  

 12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN20-1131 
CASE NAME: LESTER VS FOCKLER, ET AL. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR AWARD OF REASONABLE ATTY FEES & COSTS 
FILED BY TOBIAS M. LESTER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The court continues the hearing to February 3, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
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 13.  TIME:  9:01   CASE#: MSC20-02167 
CASE NAME: POHYAR VS. CITY OF CLAYTON 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT OF POHYAR FILED BY CITY OF CLAYTON  
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendant City of Clayton (“Defendant” 
or “the City”). The Plaintiff Aman Pohyar (“Plaintiff” or “Poyhar”) is in pro per. The Demurrer 
relates to the Complaint for (1) tort claim; (2) negligence & abuse of power; (3) soil test & 
condition of underground; (4) proof by photo evidences; and (5) unnecessary early deposit. 

Defendant demurs to the Complaint pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 430.10(e) on 
the grounds that Plaintiff’s Complaint fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action 
against the City, a public entity, which is only liable by statute. Defendant also demurs pursuant 
to CCP § 430.10(f) on the grounds that Plaintiff’s Complaint is uncertain. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Legal Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” 
(Holiday Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is 
sufficient if it alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 
42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case 
“with reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the 
nature, source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., 
Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.) Legal conclusions are 
insufficient. (Id. at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5.) The Court “assume[s] the truth of the 
allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or 
conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 
247.) “The existence and scope of duty are legal questions for the court.” (Merrill v. Navegar, 
Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 465, 477.) 

Factual Background 

In or about October 2017 Plaintiff purchased a property located at 8053 Kelok Way. Prior to his 
purchase, the City of Clayton had “red tagged” the Property “due to the structure being located 
on the top of a slow moving Landslide that is affecting th[e] property’s front and sideyards as 
well as the Public street in front of the property.” (Complaint at 2:16-18.) The Notice regarding 
the “Red Tag” further provided that for it to be lifted and occupancy of the house permitted, “the 
owner or buyer must contact a Registered Soil or Geotechnical Engineer to have a plan 
prepared to fix or stabilize the landslide and to repair the front and side yard as well as the 
damaged associated street improvements.” (Id. at 2:19-20.) The red tag also provided that any 
plans regarding the property must be submitted to and approved by the City. (Id. at 2:20-22.) 

Plaintiff alleges he retained a structural engineer (Complaint at 7:4-5) but that the City did not 
accept his engineer’s report. (Id. at 7:14-19.) Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that the city engineer 
took a quick look at the structural report and handed it back to Plaintiff, telling him that it was 
wrong without any additional detail. (Id.) 

Plaintiff alleges that he retained a second geotechnical engineer to render an opinion about the 
Property. (Complaint at 8:7-8.) Plaintiff alleges that in a second appointment with the city 
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engineer with his second geotechnical engineer he was told that he needed to provide a soil 
report. (Id. at 12:10-11.) Plaintiff further alleges that he submitted the soil report to the city 
engineer but failed to hear back. (Id. at 12:22-26.) 

Plaintiff alleges that the red tag on his property is not based on factual information and was 
issued as an “abuse of power” by the City. (Complaint at 20:8-10.) Though unclear, the 
gravamen of Plaintiff’s Complaint appears to be his allegation that the structural issues with the 
property are cosmetic and not geotechnical. (Id. at 22:17-19.) He contends that the City abused 
its power and that its engineer does not know the difference between landslide and settlement. 
(Id. at 22:20-23.) 

Ultimately, Plaintiff contends that the City unfairly red tagged the property without evidence and 
that as a consequence he has suffered damages including loss of rental income. (Complaint at 
31:2-5; Prayer for Relief at ¶ 2.) 

Analysis 

As a threshold issue, municipal liability is governed exclusively by statute, and a public entity 
may only be held liable as provided by statute. (Gov. Code § 815 subd. (a) [“[a] public entity is 
not liable for an injury, whether such injury arises out of an act or omission of the public entity or 
a public employee or any other person.”) In order to state a cause of action for government tort 
liability “every fact essential to the existence of statutory liability must be pleaded with 
particularity, including the existence of a statutory duty.” (Zuniga v. Housing Authority (1995) 41 
Cal.App.4th 82, 96 [quoting Searcy v. Hemet Unified School Dist. (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 792, 
802].) 

Plaintiff makes an initial reference to Government Code § 950.4 regarding his notice of claim, a 
reference to Government Code 820 and the liability of public employees (Complaint at 7:22-23), 
and a reference to Government Code § 815.2 and vicarious liability upon public entities for the 
tortious acts and omissions of their employees (Complaint at 10:8-11). Notwithstanding the 
citation to Government Code § 815.2, the Complaint is unclear with respect to the predicate tort. 
“Tort” is a broad category that includes intentional infliction of emotional distress as well as 
fraud. Plaintiff’s first cause of action for “tort claim” is not specific with respect to what type of tort 
he purports to allege.  

Furthermore, as noted by Defendant in its Demurrer, several Government Code sections 
provide statutory immunity for discretionary acts. (See Demurrer at 11:14-16.) However, given 
the absence of detail regarding the nature and basis of the alleged tort, the Court cannot 
conclude that statutory immunity applies. 

Additionally, several of Plaintiffs alleged claims are not legally recognizable: while “negligence” 
is a cause of action, “abuse of power” is not. Similarly, the Court does not recognize causes of 
action for “soil test & condition of underground,” “proof by photo evidences,” and “unnecessary 
early deposit.” 

Plaintiff’s response to the City’s argument largely consists of re-allegation of factual disputes 
regarding geotechnical engineering. It does not substantively respond to the issues raised in the 
moving papers, nor does it clarify which specific tort Plaintiff alleges against the city engineer.  

The Demurrer is sustained. Plaintiff to file an amended Complaint by February 26, 2021. 

 


